1988

Greg Norton v. J. Ralph MacFarlane, MD : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND PROCEEDINGS

This case is before the Court on an Interlocutory Appeal from an Order of the Second Judicial District Court in and for Weber County, State of Utah, by the Honorable David E. Roth, District Judge, denying the defendant's Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief Can be Granted (defendant's "Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss").

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I: SHOULD THE UTAH SUPREME COURT JOIN THE MAINSTREAM OF AMERICAN LEGAL OPINION BY ABOLISHING THE TORT OF ALIENATION OF AFFECTIONS, AN ACT CONSISTENT WITH THE COURT'S OPINION IN HACKFORD V. UTAH POWER & LIGHT AND WITH THE LEGISLATURE'S ADOPTION OF IRRECONCILABLE DIFFERENCES AS A GROUND FOR NO-FAULT DIVORCES?

II: SHOULD THE UTAH SUPREME COURT JOIN THE MAINSTREAM OF AMERICAN LEGAL OPINION BY ABOLISHING THE TORT OF CRIMINAL CONVERSATION, A CAUSE OF ACTION THAT IS EVEN MORE SUBJECT TO ABUSE AND TO YIELDING IRRATIONAL RESULTS THAN ALIENATION OF AFFECTIONS?

RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS

30-2-4. Wife's right to wages--Actions for personal injury.

A wife may receive the wages for her personal labor, maintain an action therefor in her own name and hold the same in her own right, and may prosecute and defend all actions for the preservation and protection of her rights and property as if unmarried. There shall be no right of recovery by the husband on account of personal injury or wrong to his wife, or for expenses connected therewith, but the wife may recover against a third person for such injury or wrong as if unmarried, and such recovery shall include expenses of medical treatment and other expenses paid or assumed by the husband.

Utah Code Annotated § 30-2-4 (1984)(emphasis added).

30-3-1. Procedure - Residence - Grounds.

. . .

(3) Grounds for divorce:

. . .

 (h) irreconcilable differences of the marriage;

Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-1(3) (Supp. 1988)(emphasis added).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The Amended Complaint in this case alleges that

(1) the defendant alienated the affections of the plaintiff's wife away from the defendant and (2) the defendant committed

the tort of criminal conversation by engaging in sexual relations with the plaintiff's spouse. The Amended Complaint seeks \$200,000.00 in compensatory damages for the plaintiff's alleged "emotional distress, mental anguish, embarrassment, loss of the services and consortium of his wife," and child care expenses, along with \$200,000.00 in punitive damages based on an allegation of malice.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below.

The original Complaint in this case contained three causes of action. Record, at 1. The defendant brought a Rule 12(f) Motion to Strike, Record at 9, and the plaintiff amended his Complaint to include only the two causes of action for alienation of affections and criminal conversation, Record at 39, whereupon the motion to strike was denied. Record at 65. Next, the defendant filed his Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss. Record at 70. After extensive briefing, the defendant's motion was argued before Judge David E. Roth, who issued a ruling denying the motion on the grounds that he was bound by Utah Supreme Court precedent to recognize the continued existence of alienation of affections and criminal conversation actions. Record at 148. A final order denying the defendant's Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss was filed on June 9, 1988. The defendant submitted his Petition for Permission to Appeal from an Interlocutory Order by the Second Judicial District Court of Weber County, State of Utah, Denying the Defendant's Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Upon

Which Relief Can Be Granted on June 28, 1988. Record at 196. On August 1, 1988, the Utah Supreme Court granted that Petition, and this appeal followed. Proceedings in the District Court were stayed by order of Judge Roth as of August 10, 1988, Record at 193, pursuant to a motion by the defendant Record at 184. No answer has been filed to date in this case.

Statement of Facts

No facts have been developed in this case, except the fact that the plaintiff is suing the defendant under the theories of alienation of affections and criminal conversation with specific claims of damages and prayers for relief as discussed above. There are, of course, factual allegations in the Complaint, but no answer has been filed, and therefore, no facts have been admitted, denied, or otherwise determined. Since this is an appeal from a denied Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the defendant-appellant recognizes his burden of showing that the amended complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted even if all of the allegations contained therein were assumed to be true for purposes of argument. This appeal, therefore, presents a pure question of law as to whether, in the abstract, causes of action for alienation of affections and criminal conversation ought to exist in Utah.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The defendant seeks the abolition of the torts of alienation of affections and criminal conversation in Utah.

Alienation of affections is a judicially-created tort

that derives from the obsolete view that a husband owns his wife. Modern attempts to find a rationale for the tort's continued viability have been largely devoid of meaningful content. The tort lacks a cohesive and defensible public policy basis that is consistent with the rest of the body of Utah law.

Many public policy considerations strongly favor the tort's abolition. First, and foremost, the tort treats the so-called "alienated spouse" as a piece of furniture and not a human being. The tort assumes that the "alienated spouse" is incapable of freely choosing upon whom to bestow his or her affections, and the tort denies the "alienated spouse's" right to pursue happiness. Second, alienation of affections actions have no deterrent effect. Third, it is exceptionally difficult to accurately determine damages in alienation of affections cases. Fourth, alienation of affections lawsuits are often brought or threatened for blackmail purposes. Fifth, alienation of affections lawsuits are often brought for the improper purpose of injuring the "alienated spouse" by attacking somebody who is emotionally close to that individual. Sixth, alienation of affections actions are entirely inconsistent with this court's recent decision in Hackford v. Utah Power & Light Co. prohibiting loss of consortium damages. Finally, abolishing this archaic tort would put Utah within the mainstream of American legal thinking. Viewed collectively, these policy considerations

make a compelling argument in favor of abolishing the tort of alienation of affections in Utah.

The judicially-created tort of criminal conversation is even more deserving of abolition than alienation of affections. It is plagued with almost all of the defects of alienation of affections. In addition, criminal conversation is a virtually strict liability tort, which has led to absurd results in practice. Not surprisingly, criminal conversation has been even more roundly rejected than alienation of affections by the mainstream legal community.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE UTAH SUPREME COURT SHOULD JOIN THE MAINSTREAM OF AMERICAN LEGAL OPINION BY ABOLISHING THE TORT OF ALIENATION OF AFFECTIONS, AN ACT CONSISTENT WITH THE COURT'S OPINION IN HACKFORD V. UTAH POWER & LIGHT AND WITH THE LEGISLATURE'S ADOPTION OF IRRECONCILABLE DIFFERENCES AS A GROUND FOR NO-FAULT DIVORCES.

- A. Alienation of affections is a judicially created tort in Utah, with no constitutional or statutory basis, which may therefore be judicially abolished.

In Wilson v. Oldroyd, 1 Utah 362, 267 P.2d 759 (1954), the Utah Supreme Court defined "the essential allegations of the cause of action for alienation of affections" as:

(a) the fact of marriage, (b) that the defendant willfully and intentionally, (c) alienated the wife's affections (d) resulting in the loss of the comfort, society, and consortium of the wife, and (e) (to justify punitive damages) a charge of malice.

Wilson, 267 P.2d at 763. In Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207 (Utah 1983), the Utah Supreme Court declared that "the right to recover for alienation of affections now extends to both spouses equally," Nelson, 669 P.2d at 1215, and added the following two "clarifications and elaborations":

First, the requirement that the defendant's acts must have constituted the 'controlling cause' of the alienation of affections means that the causal effect of the defendant's conduct must have outweighed the combined effect of all other causes, including the conduct of the plaintiff's spouse and the alienated spouse. For this purpose, a defendant is properly chargeable with the effect of mere acquiescence in the overtures of the alienated spouse where the defendant knows or has reason to know that such acquiescence will damage the marital relationship.

Second, in trying to make the damages 'proportionate' to the loss of the injured spouse, the trier of fact should consider the duration and quality of the marriage relation, including the extent to which genuine feelings of love and affections existed between the spouses prior to the intervention of the defendant.

Nelson, 669 P.2d at 1219.

The Nelson court also provided guidance concerning punitive damages in alienation of affections actions. The court stated that in order to meet the prerequisite showing of malice, "the plaintiff must show 'circumstances of aggravation in addition to the malice implied by law from the conduct of

defendant in causing the separation of plaintiff and [his or her spouse] which was necessary to sustain recovery of compensatory damages.'" Nelson, 669 P.2d at 1219 (brackets in original) (quoting Heist v. Heist, 46 N.C.App. 521, 527, 265 S.E.2d 434, 438 (1980)). Furthermore, any award of punitive damages must take into consideration a number of factors, including evidence of the defendant's net worth or income. Id.

There is no constitutional provision or statute that authorizes or requires the recognition of alienation of affections as a cause of action in Utah.

Because alienation of affections is a judicially created cause of action, without any constitutional or statutory support, it may be judicially abolished. When Washington became the first state to judicially abolish the tort, it made the following observations:

The action for alienation of a spouse's affections is a judicially created doctrine in this state. The action existed at common law, and was adopted into the jurisprudence of this state. See, e.g., Beach v. Brown, 20 Wash. 266, 55 P. 46 (1898). The legislature of this state has not specifically provided for an action for alienation of affections.

No doubt has ever been expressed regarding the courts' power to abolish this judicially created action for alienation of a spouse's affections. Our original decision in this case recognized that 'a rule of law which has its origins in the common law and which has not been specifically enacted by the legislature may be modified or abolished by the courts when such revision is mandated by changed conditions.' In the instant case,

the question of abolition of the action has been squarely presented to the courts of this state and, since the action was created judicially, the courts have the power to resolve this question.

Wyman v. Wallace, 94 Wash.2d 99, 615 P.2d 452, 453-454 (1980) (citations omitted).

Beyond having the power to abolish alienation of affections, this Court has an obligation as the guardian of the common law to reexamine the continued viability of a tort that this Court recently called "a historical anomaly." Hackford v. Utah Power & Light Co., 740 P.2d 1281, 1286 n.3 (Utah 1987). If alienation of affections is no longer supported by a solid theoretical foundation, or if public policy considerations favor abolition of the tort, then the tort ought to be abolished. The strength of our common law tradition is dependent upon the judiciary's constant pruning of obsolete notions and legal theories to create a healthier and more just body of law.

B. Alienation of affections is a tort derived from the archaic and unacceptable notion that a wife is the property of her husband.

The history of the tort of alienation of affections was admirably traced in Justice Durham's detailed concurring and dissenting opinion in Nelson. 669 P.2d at 1223-1227. Originally, the tort was derived from the notion that under the medieval concept of social status, when a woman married she lost her legal and spiritual existence as an individual,

becoming instead a part of her husband and one of his chattels. As one modern commentator put it:

Early courts were exclusively controlled by men, and the origin of alienation of affections must necessarily be considered with that in mind. At common law, a wife was more than a "mere chattel;" she was a man's most prized possession. Therefore, enticing away a man's wife was perhaps the ultimate tort.

Comment, Alienation of Affections: Flourishing Anachronism, 13 Wake Forest L.Rev. 585-588 (1977). The concept that a wife has no separate legal identity and is merely the property of her husband is entirely inconsistent with modern legal thinking. That point was admitted by the majority in Nelson v. Jacobsen, and the majority put forth the following as an acceptable modern rationale for the tort:

While the archaic notion of "wife as chattel" may have served as the historical foundation for this cause of action, its modern context bears little resemblance to that notion. The right to recover for alienation of affections now extends to both spouses equally. See, e.g., Heist v. Heist, 46 N.C.App. 521, 265 S.E.2d 434 (1980); Burch v. Goodson, 85 Kan. 86, 116 P.2d 216 (1911). Moreover, an action for alienation of affections is no longer based on the premise that either spouse constitutes the "property" of the other, but on the premise that each spouse has a valuable interest in the marriage relationship, including its intimacy, companionship, support, duties, and affection. Note, "The Case for Retention of Causes of Action for Intentional Interference with the Marital Relationship", 48 Notre Dame Law. 426 430-31 (1972).

Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d at 1215 (emphasis in the original). Interestingly, Nelson is the first Utah case to make the tort of alienation of affections available to both spouses. Wilson v. Oldroyd talks specifically in terms of alienation of "the wife's affections." Wilson, 267 P.2d at 763.

In Nelson, the majority opinion, by rejecting the existing historical "wife as chattel" basis for the tort, in effect created a new tort based on the asserted "valuable interest in the marriage relationship". Nelson 669 P.2d at 1215 (emphasis in the original). As the next section of this brief demonstrates, although that justification may be facially appealing, it is fatally flawed.

- C. The rationalization that "each spouse has a valuable interest in the marriage relationship" is inaccurate when considered in light of Utah law.

The statement by the majority in Nelson v. Jacobsen that "each spouse has a valuable interest in the marriage relationship , including its intimacy, companionship, support, duties and affection" may seem at first glance appealing. If the statement is true as a general matter of Utah law, then alienation of affections actions simply connote one of many possible ways in which that incorporeal interest may be invaded, leading to liability. In effect, alienation of a spouse's affections would simply be a means by which the tort

of interfering with a party's marriage relationship might be conducted.

The problem with the foregoing theory is that there is no general tort of "interference with the marriage relationship" under Utah law. If there is, and if each spouse truly has a generally protectable interest in the marriage relationship itself, then any wrongful act that damages the marriage relationship should be actionable, provided that basic tests of causal proximity can be met. Thus, a wide range of injuries to spouse "A" should result in a cause of action in favor of spouse "B" for the harm caused to spouse "B's" interest in the marriage relationship. For example, if Defendant negligently injures Husband in a car accident, then Wife ought to be able to sue Defendant for his negligent interference with her interest in her marriage relationship with Husband. It is reasonably foreseeable that when a defendant negligently causes a car accident, the defendant may injure somebody else, and that the injured party may be married, and that the injuries may damage the injured party's spouse's marriage relationship. Thus, causality is established.

Under Utah law, however, an action by Wife to recover for the harm to her marriage (and in particular its "intimacy, companionship, support, duties, and affection," to quote Nelson) caused by Defendant's negligent injury of Husband in a car accident would be deemed a suit for loss of consortium damages. Loss of consortium actions are explicitly barred by

this court's very recent decision in Hackford v. Utah Power & Light Co., 740 P.2d 1281 (Utah 1987).

Countless other examples could be given, but the foregoing demonstrates that there is no general legally cognizable and protectable interest in the marriage relationship as such under Utah law. Indeed, under all of Utah law there appear to be only two conditions where the alleged "interest in the marriage relationship" is legally enforceable. One area is in wrongful death cases, as provided by Article XVI, Section 5, of the Utah Constitution; the other area is in alienation of affections and/or criminal conversation actions.

The majority in Nelson, therefore, could not have been referring to a generally protected "interest in the marriage relationship," since no such interest exists; rather, they were referring to a purported interest in each spouse not to have the marriage relationship disrupted by the attempts of third parties to alienate the affections of the other spouse. Phrased that way, however, the rationale supporting Nelson v. Jacobsen turns out to be a tautology. In effect, Nelson says that there should be a cause of action for alienation of affections because each spouse in a marriage has a right not to have the other spouse's affections alienated. Such reasoning does not provide a sound analytical basis for the continued existence of a cause of action that has been widely rejected by the majority of American jurisdictions.

- D. The tort of alienation of affections ignores the "alienated spouse's" status as a human being who should be free to change his or her own emotions and affections.

Our Declaration of Independence contains these words, which form the core of America's concept of jurisprudence: "We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty, and the pursuit of Happiness." The Declaration of Independence, para. 2 (U.S. 1776). Those unalienable rights extend to the key non-party figure in alienation of affections actions, the so-called "alienated spouse." Merely because a couple is married does not give one spouse the right to hold the other spouse's emotions hostage, or to prevent the other spouse from achieving a state of happiness. Yet that is precisely the effect of alienation of affections actions. The very existence of the tort means that a spouse must conscientiously avoid relationships that could expand the spouse's horizons in a way that might damage the marriage relationship, even at the expense of the spouse's own happiness. Otherwise, the other participant in the relationship may become a defendant in an alienation of affections lawsuit.

One essential point to remember is that alienation of affections actions have nothing to do with sex or sexual relationships per se. Rather, the tort lies in all cases where

the defendant is aware of the existence of the marriage, and yet willfully and intentionally alienates the plaintiff's spouse's affections away from the plaintiff. Wilson, 267 P.2d at 763. Even the "intentional and willful" standard is not hard and fast since "a defendant is properly chargeable with the effect of mere acquiescence in the overtures of the alienated spouse where the defendant knows or has reason to know that such acquiescence will damage the marital relationship." Nelson, 669 P.2d at 1219.

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