1988

# John M. Whiteley, Barbara Whiteley and Elan Management, Inc. v. Sidney Seftel, Theresa Seftel : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT 1: Plaintiffs' offers to deposit and release funds held by third party escrow agents was a sufficient "money equivalent" to result in a valid tender. Additionally, Plaintiffs' tender was unconditional in that Plaintiffs were prepared to perform, in full, if Defendants were willing to live up to their contractual obligations.

Even should this Court determine that Plaintiffs' tender was insufficient, the trial court's decision should be upheld since the trial court further determined that Defendants' conduct excused Plaintiffs from tendering in a form different

than that undertaken by Plaintiffs. Since Defendants have not contended that this conclusion of the trial court was in error, the trial court's decision must stand.

POINT 2. Sufficient evidence exists on the record to support the trial court's findings that the Plaintiffs had asked Defendants to specify the amounts owing on or about March 11, 1985. Moreover, Defendants had previously stipulated as an uncontested fact that Plaintiff John Whiteley had contacted Defendant Sidney Seftel and informed him Plaintiffs were prepared to pay all amounts owing, but that Defendants and their attorney refused to provide Plaintiffs with that information.

Sufficient evidence also existed to support the findings that Associated Title Company had acted as an escrow agent and had advised Defendants that they would be paid. Defendants had further stipulated as an uncontested fact that they had been contacted by Associated Title Company who inquired about the amounts Defendants claimed to be owing under the contract.

POINT 3. While Plaintiffs were admittedly delinquent in their payments as required by the express terms of the Uniform Real Estate Contract, such delinquency had no legal consequence until the Defendants strictly complied with one of the three remedies prescribed by Paragraph 16 of the contract, thereby informing the Plaintiffs what must be done for the protection

of their purchasers' interest. Until such time Whiteleys had full contractual rights and, therefore, were not in default of the contract.

POINT 4: Since, as spelled out more fully in Points 1 and 2, supra, Plaintiffs undeniably tendered payment to Defendants, or were excused from such tender by Defendants' conduct, Defendants were in breach under the express terms of the contract by not fulfilling their contractual obligations, and by not conveying title to the Plaintiffs as provided by Paragraph 8 of the Uniform Real Estate Contract.

POINT 5: The Uniform Real Estate Contract entered into between the parties requires the defaulting party to pay the non-defaulting party's attorney fees incurred in the enforcement of the contract, in obtaining possession of the property, or in pursuing any remedy provided by the statutes of the State of Utah. Since Plaintiffs properly tendered, or said tender was excused, and Defendants failed to convey title, Plaintiffs were properly awarded attorney's fees. All of Plaintiffs' efforts, and the efforts of Plaintiffs' attorneys, were directed toward the enforcement of the Plaintiff's rights under the contract. Further, the trial judge's ruling was an order enforcing the contract. Since the clear evidence produced at trial supported this ruling, the award of attorney's fees was correct.

POINT 6: The trial court's determination that Plaintiffs had properly tendered, or were excused therefrom, and the finding that Defendants had breached the express terms of the Uniform Real Estate Contract, precluded any possibility of Defendants recovering under the claims of their counter-claim. Therefore, the trial court properly prohibited Defendants from presenting their counter-claim.

Alternatively, Defendants had rested their case previous to their request to present evidence on their counter-claim and thereby were precluded from proceeding further. Therefore, the trial court's ruling was correct.

POINT 7: The trial court's granting of Plaintiffs' Motion for a Judgment Vesting Title in Lieu of Conveyance was correct for two reasons. First, the injunction previously entered by the trial court on October 15, 1985, which prohibited Defendants from forfeiting Plaintiffs' interest, was still in effect pending the final adjudication of this appeal, or a termination of the period for appeal. Therefore, the injunction remained in effect after the trial and prohibited Defendants from forfeiting under the terms of the contract.

Second, the express terms of Paragraph 16 of the Uniform Real Estate Contract prohibited the Defendants from declaring a forfeiture until such time as a payment by the Plaintiffs was thirty days past due. Since the trial court ordered Plaintiffs to make payments by September 11, 1986, by the express terms of

the contract, Defendants could not declare a forfeiture until thirty days after said date. Defendants' purported notice of default was delivered before the expiration of this thirty day period, and therefore was invalid. Since Plaintiffs fully performed before the expiration of this period, the trial court's granting of Plaintiffs' Motion for a Judgment Vesting Title in Lieu of Conveyance was correct.

#### ARGUMENT

POINT 1. THE STATEMENTS MADE BY WHITELEYS, AND BY THE TWO TITLE COMPANIES, CONSTITUTED SUFFICIENT AND PROPER TENDER. ALTERNATIVELY, TENDER IN ANY OTHER FORM WAS EXCUSED BECAUSE OF DEFENDANTS' CONDUCT.

The trial court, in its Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, correctly found that the "declarations and statements made by Plaintiff, John Whiteley, and by Associated Title Company and Beehive Title Company constituted sufficient and proper tender to Defendants of the total amounts then due and owing to Defendants under the Uniform Real Estate Contract." (Conclusion of Law No. 1; R. at 467.) Defendants maintain that this conclusion was error because Plaintiffs never produced money or its equivalent, and because Plaintiffs' offer was conditioned upon Defendants releasing their interest in the property.

As recognized by Defendants in their brief, at page 11, a valid tender does not require an actual production of the

money. A tender is sufficient if a money "equivalent" is offered. Zions Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319, 1322 (Utah 1975). Defendants' argument ignores the fact that Associated Title Company, as a third party escrow agent, would have held funds sufficient to make payment of the amounts due to the Defendants under the Uniform Real Estate Contract had the Defendants, or their agents, simply informed the Whiteleys or Associated Title Company of the amounts then owing. Additionally, Defendants' argument also ignores the fact that Defendants, and/or their agents, were informed in both August and September, 1985, that Beehive Title Company had on deposit sufficient funds to pay the amounts then owing to the Defendants. However, again, Defendants and their agents refused to release the requested information. (R. at 466.) Clearly these amounts held by the escrow agents were sufficient to constitute the requisite "equivalent to cash."

This Court has previously recognized that tender is sufficient when a check is left with a bank, and the seller is informed that the check is available (Hansen v. Christensen, 545 P.2d 1152, 1154 (Utah 1976)) and that the mere telephoning with an offer of payment is sufficient to constitute a tender (Romero v. Schmidt, 15 Utah 2d 300, 392 P.2d 37 (Utah 1964)). A California court, in facts similar to those in the instant case, recently held funds deposited in a bank, which was prepared to deliver the funds to the escrow (not even to the seller) if requested, was sufficient to constitute "the

equivalent of cash" and that the tender was sufficient. Hutton v. Gliksberg, 128 Cal. App. 3d 240, 180 Cal. Rptr. 141, 145 (1982). The amounts held by the title companies as escrow agents were patently sufficient to be considered equivalent to cash in this case.

Defendants next contend that Whiteleys' tender was insufficient since the tender was conditioned upon Defendants' release of their interest in the property. Defendants' contention cannot stand. Plaintiffs' tender was unconditional in that Plaintiffs were prepared to perform, in full, if Defendants were willing to live up to their contractual obligations. Escrow closings traditionally require that both parties perform concurrently as a protection for both buyer and seller. Therefore, it is unreasonable to conclude that Plaintiffs' tender was insufficient because the general rules of escrow closing required the Defendants to perform as required by their contract.

The above general principle was supported and recognized in this Court's decision of Hansen v. Christensen, 545 P.2d 1152 (Utah 1976). In Hansen, the Plaintiff went to Defendant's home and offered full payment, which Defendant refused. The Plaintiff then left a check for the full amount with the bank, and the Defendant received notice that the money was available, "in exchange for a deed." Id. at 1153. Despite the fact that, as in this case, the tender required the Defendant to produce a deed at the same time as receiving

payment, the Court held that the actions of the Plaintiff constituted sufficient tender. Id. at 1154.

Defendants' reliance on the Utah Supreme Court's decision of Beckstead v. Smith, 656 P.2d 1003 (Utah 1982), is misplaced. In Beckstead, the purchaser had stipulated that no valid tender had been made. The only issue for the court to decide was whether the buyer was excused from tendering because of the seller's behavior. Id. at 1004. Even were this Court to decide that the Beckstead decision was binding, the conclusions reached by Defendants are inconsistent with the holding in Beckstead. There this Court merely held that the seller's performance of conveyance is conditioned upon, and not concurrent with, the buyer's performance of payment. Id. at 1004. As stated above, the buyer's performance can be by tendering the "equivalent" of payment, which Whiteleys did by setting up an escrow agent and informing Defendants of the arrangement. Once Whiteleys validly tendered, they had performed sufficiently to require Defendants to perform their contractual obligations by releasing the payoff information to Plaintiffs.

Even should this Court determine that Plaintiffs' tender was insufficient, the trial court's ruling should not be overturned. Defendants do not contend that the trial court's Conclusion of Law No. 2 was error. That Conclusion of Law, in essence, states that Whiteleys were excused from making a valid tender because of Defendants' conduct, which frustrated

Plaintiffs' attempts to tender. (R. at 467.) Since this conclusion was not challenged by Defendants, and since it leads to the same result as if Plaintiffs' tender had been valid (i.e. Plaintiffs were not in default under the terms of the Uniform Real Estate Contract, while Defendants were), this Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

POINT 2. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE EXISTS TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS THAT WHITELEYS ASKED DEFENDANTS WHAT WAS OWING ON MARCH 11, 1985, AND THAT ASSOCIATED TITLE ACTED AS AN ESCROW AGENT AND ADVISED DEFENDANTS THAT THEY WOULD BE PAID.

This Court has held that "[t]o mount a successful attack on the trial court's findings of fact, an appellant must marshal all the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and then demonstrate that even viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings. Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). Scharf further recognizes that this requirement puts on the Appellant a "heavy burden." Id. at 1070. The arguments made by Defendants in their brief, at Argument II, Page 15, simply do not meet this burden.

Defendants maintain that there is no factual basis for the finding that Plaintiff John Whiteley, during a telephone conversation on March 11, 1985, requested Defendant Sidney Seftel to advise him as to the amount owing under the contract. Defendants' claim that Plaintiff John Whiteley

testified at trial that he knew how much was owing to Western Savings and Loan, and to the Defendants, and that therefore Plaintiffs were aware of the amounts owing. The portions of the trial transcript cited by Defendants in their brief simply do not support their contentions. For example, Plaintiff John Whiteley testified:

Q. So in February you knew the amount that was due to Western Savings and Loan?

A. Approximately.

(Transcript of Trial, page 109, lines 2-4; R. at 595.) It goes without saying that having an approximate knowledge of the amounts owing in February is not the same as knowing the amounts due in March.

In the Stipulated Statement of Contested and Uncontested Facts, Defendants acknowledge that they had claimed they had an equity in the property and did not until April 14, 1986 (more than one year after Mr. Whiteley's first inquiry as to the amount claimed to be owing) cause Plaintiffs to be advised that they no longer so claimed. (Uncontested Fact #22 and #32, R. at 275 and 279.) Plaintiffs' concern was not only with what contract payments were owing, but the total of all amounts which Defendants claimed to be due them under the contract.

There was further evidence that Plaintiff John Whiteley asked Defendants for information regarding the amounts owing. In his previous testimony he told of a telephone conversation with Defendant Sidney Seftel in which he informed Mr. Seftel

that a buyer had been found, and that he expected to fully pay whatever was owing. (Trial Transcript pages 78-80, R. at 562 to 564.) Mr. Whiteley further testified:

Q. Did you have any further conversation with him [Defendant Sidney Seftel]?

A. I think that I called him another time a little later to tell him the same thing and to find out what he claimed was owing.

Q. Did you make any further attempts to contact Mr. Seftel?

A. I think I made two or three phone calls after that and left word for him to call or talked to his wife and asked her to have him call. And he didn't return the calls.

(Trial Transcript page 80, lines 14-17, 21 to page 81, line 1; R. at 564-65.)

When John Whiteley was shortly thereafter asked to explain the purpose of the phone calls, he responded:

Q. And the purpose for the phone calls, again, to Mr. Seftel?

A. Was to assure him that we were proceeding with this sale and that we needed his figures and that the payoff was imminent.

(Trial Transcript, page 81, lines 13 to 15; R. at 565.) Mr. Whiteley further testified that these conversations took place around March 11, 1985. (Trial Transcript page 81, lines 21-22;

R. at 565.) The above statements patently support the trial court's Finding of Fact that Plaintiffs asked Defendants what was owing on or about March 11, 1985, and that Defendants refused to give this information to them.

Additionally, Defendants previously stipulated, in the Stipulated Statement of Contested and Uncontested Facts, that it was an uncontested fact that Plaintiff John Whiteley telephoned Defendant Sidney Seftel and informed him that Plaintiffs were prepared to pay all amounts owing (Uncontested Fact #19, R. at 274-75), and that Defendants did not advise Plaintiffs as to the amounts claimed owing (Uncontested Fact #20, R. at 275). Uncontested Fact #20 (R. at 275) goes on to reveal that "Plaintiff John Whiteley made additional attempts to obtain information regarding the amount claimed by Mr. Seftel to be owing under the contract [but that] Defendants and their attorneys failed and refused to provide Plaintiffs with the requested information." These facts, stipulated to by Defendants, further support the trial court's findings.

The Defendants next contend that there were insufficient factual evidence to find that Mr. and Mrs. Bowns were prepared to complete the purchase of the property from Plaintiffs and would have completed it if Defendants had provided the requested information as to the amounts owing. At trial, Mrs. Jo Anne Bowns, after testifying that they were prepared to purchase the subject property, stated:

Q. Did you complete the purchase of that property?

A. No, we didn't.

Q. And why not?

A. The owner couldn't come up with free title on it, clear title, I guess that's what you call it.

(Trial Transcript, pages 22, lines 24-25, page 23, lines 1-3; R. at 507-508.) Again, as further clarified in the statements by Plaintiff John Whiteley above, the reason Plaintiffs could not obtain clear title was because Defendants refused to specify the amount that needed to be paid off.

Defendants further contend that the trial court's findings that Associated Title Company was involved in the Bowns' sale as a third party escrow agent, which would hold sufficient funds to make payment of the amounts owing, was not supported by substantial evidence. However, testimony by Blake T. Heiner, vice-president and legal council of Associated Title, and especially Plaintiff's Exhibit 11, introduced into evidence through Mr. Heiner, support the trial court's findings. (See Trial Transcript, pages 67 to 74; R. 551-58.) Specifically, Exhibit 11 indicates that \$53,961.00 was held by Associated Title Company at the critical time. Such was clearly sufficient to pay the amounts due and owing to Defendants, if Respondents or Associated Title would have properly been given the requested information.

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